Caroline Bruzelius, William Tronzo

The Kingdom of Sicily:  The Norman Contribution 

Buildings are normally studied one by one, and the primary concerns of scholars tend to be style, dating and chronology.  In this paper, we propose to take a different approach:  to look at the architecture of Roger II and his successors as part of a broad political strategy, one that was intended to present the new kingdom to Mediterranean cultures and European travelers, pilgrims, and crusaders.  To this end, we will look at topography, city plans, ports and roads to reflect upon how Norman buildings were experienced in a world in which most travel was by sea.  We will look at how these monuments exalted the new kingdom within Mediterranean languages of power and authority.  Our narrative will address issues of circulation and travel and attempt to come to terms with the notion of encounter and experience.  We will analyze the architecture created by the Norman kings as part of a political and strategic process that asserted their control and power over the Kingdom by focusing on the high visibility and “ostentatious presentation” of monuments from the sea.   

Our paper derives from a larger research project currently in progress: a continuous narrative of the visual and built cultures of the Kingdom of Sicily between the twelfth and the mid-fifteenth century, and a database of maps, views, and images of medieval sites in South Italy.  By focusing on the longue durée, we hope to show that each dynasty of the Kingdom – Norman, Hohenstaufen, Angevin - functioned in relation to its predecessors, as well as to its Roman, Byzantine, and Lombard predecessors, and to the local, thriving, cultures of Islamic North Africa and Byzantium.  Models of rulership and its representation were conceived with sharp consciousness of not only what had come before, but also (above all) the vitally important frame of Mediterranean cultures.  In this paper, we focus on the fundamental contribution of Norman architectural patronage to the Italian South in the twelfth century (with some reference also to the eleventh).   

It is our belief that ecclesiastical and conventual complexes, city plans, and urban 

topographies (hills, harbors, roads) profoundly informed the shape, style, and configuration of significant, “royal,” buildings.  While focused architectural analysis is still essential for the study of individual monuments, we propose that buildings also need to be understood as part of a dynamic relationship to each other, to the landscape, to the “view” of the traveler, and to issues of power and authority in the new kingdom.      

We address this issue in a number of ways:  by looking closely at navigational maps to understand the positioning of Norman buildings from the sea; by reconstructing what we can of the location and landscape in order to determine how the Normans sited and planned building projects; by mapping modes of movement through the Kingdom; and (finally) by looking closely at the choice of major cities for the Normans, including Bari, Catania and Palermo.  We thus hope to address issues of sea travel and ports as the primary means of experiencing Norman monuments.  For example, the choice of Palermo as the capital of the new kingdom is particularly significant because this city’s previous importance as a major Islamic center, yet one that faced north, towards the commercial and trading centers of the west side of Italy (Genoa, Pisa, Amalfi, Naples) as well as southern France (Marseilles).  We intend to draw widely on twelfth-century material from Europe, Byzantium and the Islamic world to assess the Norman contribution to the built environment of Southern Italy, as well as to throw into relief the distinctive features of this visual and monumental culture.

Eric Fernie 

The cathedral of Canosa and the Byzantine and Romanesque styles in architecture.
 
The paper concerns two aspects of the cathedral, namely its date and its iconography. On the date it sets out the evidence for and against c.1040-60 and c.1080-1100, in the Byzantine and Norman periods respectively. On the iconography, there are numerous indications that the design was intended to recall the church of the Holy Apostles in Constantinople. These include the form of the church, its dedication, and the presence of the mausoleum of Bohemond attached to the south transept. The case is a strong one, but there are two interesting qualifications, to do respectively with the form of the church and the dedication. It concludes with a brief assessment of the relevance of the date to an understanding of the relationship between the Byzantine and Romanesque styles of architecture.
Mark J. Johnson

The Tomb of Bohemund at Canosa and the Architectural Setting of Norman Ruler Tombs in Italy

The mausoleum holding the remains of Prince Bohemund (d. 1111) next to the Cathedral at Canosa is the only surviving example of a Norman ruler tomb in Italy built as a separate structure. Much has been written about its architecture and supposed sources, but few scholars have commented on its location in relationship to the cathedral. An examination of the other Norman ruler tombs in Italy at Venosa, Mileto, Cefalù, Palermo, Monreale and elsewhere with particular emphasis on their architectural setting will demonstrate a pattern in the location of these tombs: tombs of the male rulers are invariable placed on the south side of their respective churches. As regards the mausoleum at Canosa, it architectural design and placement near the east end of the church are based on late antique prototypes, including monuments Bohemund may have seen in his journeys during the First Crusade, while the original setting of the actual tomb of Bohemund probably echoed the arrangement seen in the ruler tombs of his parents in Venosa.

Béla Zsolt Szakács

Hungary, Byzantium, Italy: Architectural Connections in the Eleventh Century

The conversion of the Hungarians in the 10th-11th centuries was promoted by Byzantine as well as Western missions. Although the secular church organization, built up by King Stephen the Saint from the early 11th century, belonged to Latin Christendom, Orthodox monasteries also functioned in parallel. However, their artistic traces cannot be easily identified. A couple of monasteries were built on centralizing plans (e.g. Feldebrő, Szekszárd, Zselicszentjakab), nevertheless, these belonged to the Benedictine order and their architecture can be compared to Italian examples. The ornamental style of their architectural decoration is typical for Hungary. The palmette motives carved on capitals and cornices are frequently compared to Byzantine prototypes, however, the closest examples are in the North-Adriatic region. The only 11th-century Orthodox monastery so far excavated (Visegrád, St. Andrew’s) shows no special Eastern characteristics, instead, the longitudinal arrangement and the sanctuary can be connected to the so-called “Benedictine type”. Thus, if we find Byzantine characteristics in 11th-century Hungarian architecture, they were transmitted by Italy and cannot be explained by the otherwise really existing direct Hungarian-Byzantine connections. 

Claude Andrault-Schmitt


A Western Interpretation of an Oriental Scheme: The Domed Churches of Romanesque Aquitaine

A great number of Romanesque aisleless naves are vaulted with a line of domes, each dome rising above a bay. We can observe this structure in some cathedrals (Cahors, Périgueux, Angoulême), in a few great monastic churches (Solignac, Souillac, Fontevraud) and in many smaller monuments. There seems no single explanation for this widely-shared architectural choice. None of these churches are firmly dated, or even relatively dated. But we are reasonably sure that they were all built after the first Crusade, probably between c. 1110 and c. 1145, because they require technical refinements, such as the use of pointed arches framing four pendentives. Both the dating and the symmetric arrangement give to the Aquitanian type a specific definition: which we must distinguish from evocations of the Holy-Sepulchre in Jerusalem, or from the evocation of St-Mark’s in Venice at St-Front in Périgueux, all dated before 1099. 

This architectural expression is probably inherited from Constantinople (see St-Irene). However we will see how the type is more dynamic than its models (notably because of its longitudinal scheme), and how it works very differently. The innovation is remarkable and the new structures reveal another taste, combined with another programme.

Rose Walker
Carving and Construction from Medieval Spain after the Fall of the Caliphate

 
This paper will look at the repercussions of the fall of the Caliphate (1008-1013) and the occupation of Toledo (1085) for art and architecture in the north of Spanish peninsula. It will revisit the arguments of, for example, Georges Gaillard in the light of more recent archaeological and documentary knowledge of the Taifa kingdoms and a reassessment of their previous ‘degenerate’ label. The main focus will be on the possible careers of ivory, stone and stucco carvers who developed the legacy of Córdoba. Mercenaries, tributary payments in gold and in slaves, trade and diplomatic contacts may all have played a part. In the northern kingdoms craftsmen in the al-Andalusi tradition may have come into contact with metalworkers from the Ottonian tradition, and together sparked something new. Others may have travelled across the Pyrenees to the north of Catalonia and beyond.
Tom Nickson 

Inventing Romanesque in Conquest Spain 

Muslim rule in southern Spain meant that there was no local Romanesque building tradition when the cities of Córdoba, Valencia and Seville were  captured by Christian armies in 1236, 1238 and 1248 respectively. In the immediate aftermath of conquest the cities' mosques and oratories were  converted into cathedrals and parish churches for the new Christian  settlers, but in most cases these were replaced within seventy years by new  churches built at the instigation of secular patrons and religious orders. Yet, whilst these new churches shared the repertoire of 'gothic' forms that  had been consistently employed in peninsular church buildings since the  1220s, their architectural vocabulary was distinctly archaic when compared with the newest Rayonnant structures built, for instance, in León in the  second half of the thirteenth century. Moreover, particular details of  these churches - notably their richly ornamented portals and highly  decorated vaults - seem to refer to late twelfth- century Romanesque  structures in northern Spain and even Sicily. This paper will examine these archaisms in  the context of conquest and settlement, transient masons, and contact with Muslim building traditions. In a famous letter of 1274, king Jaime I of Aragón encouraged the cathedral chapter of Huesca to replace their  converted mosque-cathedral with one more'honestum', built 'ad modum  ecclesiarum more christiano' - should the invention of Romanesque building  traditions be understood as a particularly Christian mode?

Mariam Rosser-Owen

 The Oliphant: a symbol of Mediterranean hybridity?

Oliphants are a phenomenon of Mediterranean ivory production of the 11th and 12th centuries. Carved from a single elephant’s tusk, they were more than just hunting horns, since their impractical weight and luxury material made them ideally suited for a secondary function as symbols of status, nobility and the tenure of land. They were frequently dedicated by noblemen in the Latin West to important churches and cathedrals where they were displayed as precious objects and sometimes adapted as reliquaries. The Christian symbol of the oliphant was also frequently represented in religious paintings and sculptures, where angels blew them to resurrect the dead on the Day of Judgement.  

The importance of these ivory objects was heightened through their complex decoration, and this is where the origins and meaning of the oliphants become complicated by the Islamic and Byzantine styles that were frequently employed in their decoration. While their form and function as objects seems entirely adapted to the feudal system of the Latin/Christian world, their artistic styles have led scholars to look further east for the origins of the oliphant. While there is no equivalent function or tradition of the oliphant in the Islamic world and none has ever been found in an Islamic context, recent research has re-evaluated the origins of the so‐called ‘Saracenic group’, and has gone so far as to attribute some of the surviving oliphants to Fatimid Egypt.  

While scholarly understanding of the mechanics of Mediterranean trade and the close connections between Italy and Egypt, through trade and diplomatic relations, has deepened, nevertheless the notion persists that objects decorated in an Islamic style must be Islamic in craftsmanship, rather than suggestive of new tastes inspired by the importation of new and sophisticated Fatimid objects into Italy. Furthermore, the tendency persists of focusing on artistic production within narrow disciplinary boundaries, so that Islamic art historians largely focus their studies on the Islamic-style oliphants, and likewise Byzantinists tend only to look at those carved in a Byzantine style. Oliphants in both styles have been attributed to the Norman world of southern Italy, and it seems more productive to study these objects as one group, which together provide another example of the hybridity of Norman artistic culture. 

This paper will attempt to look as a whole at the group of oliphants attributable to southern Italy in the 11th and 12th centuries. It will aim to consider their decoration within the context of contemporary local Italian carving traditions, and to suggest that these objects were made locally but incorporated the full range of cultural and artistic associations which swirled in the melting pot of medieval Italy.

Eva Hoffman 

The Circulation of Ivories:  Expanding Sacred and Cultural Boundaries in the Medieval Mediterranean World 

The circulation of portable objects between Christian and Islamic realms during the twelfth and thirteenths centuries played a dynamic role in shaping visual culture and experience in the medieval Mediterranean world.  The routes that will be explored here are pathways and networks of exchange between Europe and the Eastern Mediterranean effected largely through the traffic of the Crusades. During this time, there was a steady flow and circulation of large numbers of Islamic and Byzantine objects throughout Europe, many of which ended up in church treasuries. As scholars have shown, the relocation of objects into the European church treasuries signified nothing less than the extension of the boundaries of sacred topography from the Holy Land to Europe. Yet, while the ever-increasing demand in Europe for objects from the Eastern Mediterranean may have been inspired by their holy value, the commercial motivation for their acquisition cannot be ignored. 
I will argue here that it was the intersection of holiness and commerce that activated and accounted for the influx of the full spectrum of Eastern Mediterranean works and that the widespread dissemination and assimilation of Eastern Mediterranean art in Europe resulted in a reconfiguration of the visual and cultural landscape of the Mediterranean, more broadly.  The paper will focus on two groups of ivories that are emblematic of the complexities associated with localizing portable arts within the medieval Mediterranean. One group comprises works that were probably made in Fatimid Egypt and then refashioned to fit into the new European context. The second group comprises works that were most likely made on the Italian peninsula. By considering both groups of ivories together and in relation to Fatimid works, I would like to suggest a mechanism through which ivories were at first imported and integrated into the European realm and then produced locally. In the process, I believe, it will be possible to explain some of the thorny issues of localization and identity and also to deepen our understanding of the broader nature and range of exchange between the Eastern Mediterranean and Europe.

Gerardo Boto

Sparkles of Damascus in the Mirrors of the Reconquest. Oriental Monstrous Creatures in the 10th and 11th Centuries at the Spanish Monastic Scriptoria

The 10th century saw the zenith of a cultural splendour in Islamic Spain (Al-Andalus). During this time, Christian scriptoria experienced an artistic revolution, and the miniature from this period possesses the strongest personality of the Spanish Middle Ages. Among the main manuscripts then illuminated, we can find Bibles, manuscripts of Beatus’ commentary to the Apocalypse, Moralia in Job and some collections of Synodal Acts from the Visigothic period. Some of the miniaturists (Vigila, Emeterio or En) in charge of these illustrations were highly aware of the oriental repertory of monstrous beings which can be seen in sumptuary objects. The spreading of those was given as a result of the cultural exchanges established between Christian and Muslims. These ivory, silk or silver treasures were obtained by means of trade, donation or tribute.

The Ark of Noah was typified in the Beatus manuscript illustration as an argument for the History of Salvation culminating in the Apocalypse. This issue triggered the exploration of real and imaginary fauna populating the Earth before and after the Flood. Lacking any copies of the Physiologus, this fauna actually constitutes a Spanish Early-Medieval visual bestiary. Some of these beasts are well-known (griffins o manticores), but others are hitherto unseen. Among the existing Beatus manuscripts, the “Beatus of Saint-Sever” (Paris, BNF) and the one in the Girona Cathedral are particularly interesting. The Gascon manuscript shows a folium arranged by “roleos” populated with an exotic fauna (the same solution already seen in the Leon Bible of 920). In the codex now in the Catalan See we can find an original variety of zoological and monstrous repertory located in the lower margins. These marginalia comprise animal beings unseen in the Iberian Peninsula, such as the Simurgh, here called “coreus” –a previously unknown term. Along these lines, theratogenesis is developed from the visual as well as from the verbal sphere of knowledge. They are both suggesting the presence of mediating cultural agents nowadays lost, which transferred animal and name repertories, but not always faithfully. The exploration of the exact agents in each case appears very complex. However, Prof. Karl Werckmeister has managed to mark out the semantic content as well as the iconographic sources of the most emblematically oriental motif in the Girona Beatus, i.e., the Muslim horseman. It is still to be demonstrated whether or not the repertory of monstrous images reached the artists of this Beatus manuscript by the same paths.

The same aim of novelty can be seen in the Albeldense, an Early Medieval text containing a collation of the Visigothic Councils. With no relation to the text, here we can find the most unusual catalogue of imaginary beings in the 10th-century in Spain, and perhaps in the whole European continent at this time. The debits of the artist, Vigila, with Central European workshops are not enough to explain the figural variety in the codex, so, once more, artistic influences from the East should be taken into account.

As to the rest, we shall examine the walls of San Miguel de Escalada, a contemporary church which was part of one of these monasteries enclosing a monastic scriptorium. In its choir and apse walls an animal repertory of oriental origin is shown unequalled in the contemporary temples of the Kingdom of Leon. However, this appropriation of Oriental models and solutions had already taken place during the previous Asturian period (especially in the Royal Palace of Santa Maria del Naranco) and continued to be done in the 10th-century ivory work in La Rioja (for instance, in the cross and portable altar in San Millan de la Cogolla). The presence of Oriental zoology coming from Al-Andalus in the margins of Spanish sumptuary works and their ideological discourses demonstrates that not even in the sphere of the imaginary, the fear to military confrontation stopped the cultural transfer between Christians and Muslims. 

These figural topics arrive to the best important works in the royal artistic promotion at the moment of the rise of the Spanish Romanesque from the Kingdoms of León and Navarra, with the king Fernando I (+1065) and his wife Sancha (+1067) as the more important promoters of sumptuous works of art and cult. 
Francesca Anzelmo 

The nave ceiling of the Cappella Palatina in Palermo and painted muqarnas decorations across the Mediterranean in the 11th  and 12th centuries

Maria Vittoria Fontana, in her recent book on Islamic Painting has brought to the scientific community's attention the existence of a shared Mediterranean culture of the 11th and 12th  centuries, characterized by the use of muqarnas painted with themes and subjects drawn primarily from the islamic royal repertoire, in vogue at Muslim and Christian courts in the Mediterranean at that time. This conference gives me the opportunity to apply to this topic a personal point of view with regard to certain specific aspects of the muqarnas ceiling of the Cappella Palatina in Palermo, dated to around 1143.

My argument revolves around a specific aspect of the Palatina’s ceiling, namely its being a muqarnas work decorated with paintings. This muqarnas-painting combination is recognized as one of this ceiling' unique attributes. In both a Christian and Muslim context, it is the only example in situ of a muqarnas vault made of wood and completely covered with paintings depicting figurative, ornamental and epigraphic subjects, to survive from such an early date. These aspects have been discussed by scholars who have searched the possible work models at Palermo. In my contribution I will pursue some considerations about relations between the ceiling of the Cappella Palatina and that of the Mouchroutas, a building near to the throne room in the Great Palace of Constantinople, datable to the twelfth century and known only through one source.  

I will also introduce the characteristics of what can be recognized as an aulic trend of the Islamic interior decoration in the Mediterranean area between the 11th and 12th centuries.  This trend is attested by the known fragments of painted stucco muqarnas of Fustat and the Qal'a of the Banu Hammad, and by the lesser known fragments from Murcia, in Spain.

I intend to share some considerations about those aspects that connect the ceiling of the Cappella Palatina to the context of the Medieval Mediterranean Islamic art, confirming at the same time the ceiling's status as an unicum. 

Ittai Weinryb

Mediterranean Thresholds: Barisianus of Trani, Bonanus of Pisa and the making of Mediterranean Bronze Industry

This paper takes the works of two medieval bronze casters, Barisanus and Bonanus, both of whom operated in Monreale and created two of the most lavish works in the church: two separate sets of bonze doors. Through the works of these two artists this paper will ponder on the role and function of medieval bronze caster in the so-called Mediterranean sphere of metal production. Aspects of translation of metal-casting techniques as well as alchemical knowledge and their translation from Arabic and Greek languages into Latin will also be considered in this paper.   The two artisans will be considered as practitioners operating within system of cultural exchange that is by default cross-cultural. More importantly, the aspects of the display and iconography of both works will be analyzed as both relating and completely independent of the interior mosaic decoration of the church and the capital sculpture in the Monreale cloister. Furthermore, both artists operated in regions outside of Palermo and the eastern Mediterranean making their works a confirmation for cross-regional exchange existing within systems of cross cultural exchange. Thus, this paper will lastly question issues relating to locality, and the motivation behind the artistic mechanisms that are regarded as “cross-cultural.” 

Rosa Bacile

The Royal Porphyry Workshop in Palermo c.1140-1170: the Origins of its Sculptors.  

The four magnificent porphyry sarcophagi present in the Cathedrals of Palermo and Monreale and the numerous medieval porphyry artefacts from the Norman Kingdom of Sicily is evidence that the Norman rulers established a porphyry workshop in the Kingdom most probably in their capital: Palermo. 

The cathedrals and churches commissioned by the Norman Kings made lavish use of porphyry. Besides the four sarcophagi, this very hard and rare stone is used extensively in the Cappella Palatina in Palermo, where the royal throne, the altar, the ambo, the floor and the columns supporting the dome are all crafted from the stone. Elsewhere, the floor of the church of Santa Maria dell’Ammiraglio (the church commissioned by King Roger’s admiral, George of Antioch) is covered with porphyry rotae, as are the floors of the cathedrals of Cefalù, Palermo and Monreale. In these cathedrals, porphyry is present within the sculptural programmes, and also in the liturgical furnishings. There are also few porphyry objects which are not in Sicily anymore but have been attributed to a Sicilian workshop. 
During the Middle Ages, no other capitals of the Western and Eastern Empires possessed a workshop of this kind. The issue of the provenance of the stonemasons and of the techniques to work this most unforgiving stone has never been resolved. This paper will aim to show that the stonemasons and techniques came from the Eastern Mediterranean. 

Jeremy Johns

Islamic artists and romanesque models in the painted ceilings of the Cappella Palatina

The point of departure for this paper is the conclusion of earlier studies (Johns 2010; Kapitaikin 2011) — that the wooden ceilings covering the great hall of King Roger's palace, in what is now the nave of the Cappella Palatina, were built and decorated in circa 1143 by a workshop of carpenters and painters trained in the traditions of Islamic art, probably in Fatimid Egypt, who had made similar ceilings for other wealthy or royal patrons around the Mediterranean. The decorative theme is the glorification of the ruler, especially through the celebration of his pastimes and the pleasures of his court. 

This princely theme had been formulated in Abbasid Baghdad in the 9th century, and had spread widely throughout the Islamic world. But, while all the paintings are executed in a style consistent with the proposed Egyptian origin of the painters, a tiny fraction of scenes — less than ten percent of those representing animals and humans — are not attested in the arts of Islamic courts. Amongst these, a few scenes have been shown by Lev Kapitaikin to derive from what may be called romanesque models — probably illuminated manuscripts from northwestern France — while others, it will be argued, are similarly inspired by French models, presumably transmitted to Palermo either on portable objects or by immigrant artists. However, it will be stressed that the identification of such formal prototypes is not always straightforward, largely because of the extremely poor survival of Islamic art from before the thirteenth century AD; to illustrate the need for caution, a few problematic cases will be discussed.

In some instances, the use of romanesque models by the painters of the ceilings would seem to be attributable to the instructions of the patron or his commissioners, because these scenes can be shown to play an active role in the decorative programme of the chapel as a whole (e.g. David the Psalmist, and Daniel in the Lions' Den: respectively, Johns 2010, fig. 695 and fig. 588). In other cases, it will be shown, the unfamiliar Christian models that the patron or his commissioners instructed the painters to incorporate in the ceiling inspired them to create new scenes which better fitted the traditional conception of the princely theme. Two groups of scenes are discussed in detail to exemplify this process: the four images of the mounted dragon slayer, which arguably were inspired by Byzantine icons of St Theodore or St George (Johns 2010, figs. 627, 850, 913 and 1055); and three scenes inspired by what were probably French depictions of episodes in the life of Samson (Johns 2010, figs. 539, 686, 806).

Before concluding, the paper will give a rapid tour d'horizon of other scenes that seem to attest to the inspirational impact of new and unfamiliar iconographic models from northwestern Europe upon the painters from the Islamic Mediterranean.

In conclusion, it will be proposed that the scenes discussed in this paper demonstrate a general tendency for the painters of the ceilings, left to their own devices, to transform Christian icons into ʿajāʾib, representations of marvels and wonders, which were wholly in keeping with the traditional princely theme that they had brought with them from the Islamic Mediterranean. The possibility that such transformation was driven by the religious antipathy felt by Muslim painters for Christian symbols will be briefly entertained, and decisively rejected. Instead, it will be argued that such transformations simply reflect the excitement, inspiration and stimulation afforded to Egyptian painters by the extraordinarily cosmopolitan community of artists at work, side-by-side, within the royal palace in Palermo.
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Martin Biddle 

The Tomb of Christ Rebuilt: recovery from the destruction of 1009

Constantine’s buildings on Golgotha dedicated in 335, included the great basilica known as the Martyrion, the ‘Court before the Cross’, and the Anastasis rotunda over the edicule constructed around what was believed to be the original rock-cut Tomb of Christ. Much of this huge complex was destroyed in 1009 on the orders of the Fatimid Caliph al-Hakim. The paper explores what was destroyed, how much survived, and the chronology and character of the tomb's reconstruction.  This was funded initially by the caliph's Christian mother Maria, with his approval, and latterly by the Byzantine Emperor Michael IV Paphlogos between c.1037-8 and c.1040, with the approval of Caliph al-Mustansir. The whole series of events is an extraordinary mish-mash of motives, funding, and architectural style, and chronologically contentious.

John McNeill 

Building Jerusalem in Western France: The Case of St-Sauveur at Charroux

The monastic church of Christ (St-Sauveur) at Charroux was one of a number of buildings undertaken in the Latin West that were intended to evoke the Holy Sepulchre in Jerusalem. This is clear both from the unusually precise correspondences between the respective rotundas, and the important christological relics the rotunda at Charroux was designed to shelter. The main building campaigns probably date to the 1070s and 1080s, but in a strikingly simple and effective modification, the rotunda was remodelled within a generation at most by the insertion of a crypt. Historically, this is most likely to have coincided with the consecration of the high altar by Pope Urban II on 10 January, 1096, some six weeks after the Council of Clermont and in the course of a journey which went on to see important celebrations of the True Cross at Vendôme and Moissac. Charroux was not alone in recreating Jerusalem in the West, but is remarkable in realising a church of such symbolic potential at a moment of religious anxiety.

Ludovico Geymonat 

Byzantine and Romanesque in the Baptistery at  Parma

Parma’s Baptistery is the major monument of Romanesque 

painting in northern Italy. However, its character is so Byzantine 

that we are forced to the conclusion that native art before Giotto 

was generally dominated by the great art which flourished in 

Byzantium (Adolfo Venturi, Storia dell'arte italiana, III. L'arte 

romanica, Milano 1904, p. 410). 

Covering the extensive surface of a unique and elaborate architecture with a total of more than a hundred-and-fifty single figures and twenty-five narrative scenes, the vast pictorial program in the Baptistery at Parma offers outstanding material for the study of the use of Byzantine art in Romanesque mural painting. The extent, wealth and complexity of the iconographic program – and its excellent state of preservation – make possible an in-depth analysis of how the pictorial decoration was devised, assembled and executed. I have recently presented evidence dating the program to the summer of 1233, during the rise of a devotional movement headed by Mendicant peace-making preachers that resulted in the entrusting of the city of Parma to the Franciscan friar Gerard Boccabadati. Re-examining the paintings from the ideological perspective of a Franciscan patron and from within the political context of the city of Parma in 1233 opens up dramatic new readings of the iconographic program as well as the opportunity for a new assessment of the connections between the paintings in Parma and the arts of the Eastern Mediterranean. My paper will focus on selected scenes from the program in the Baptistery showing how Byzantine sources underwent specific transformations in Parma. The study of the origins and Byzantine contexts of these sources, and of the means of transmission of images at the time, offers key evidence for close readings of peculiar aspects of the paintings in Parma. Most indicative are a series of discrepancies in the rendering of crucial figures and scenes. It becomes possible not only to demonstrate the use of Byzantine models, but also to understand how these models were employed and some consequences of their use. The evidence from the Baptistery sheds light on some of the questions at stake in the process of transmission of Eastern sources to Romanesque painting. The results are often unexpected, challenging previous literature not only on the supposed Byzantine character of the paintings in Parma, but also more generally on “Byzantinizing” images in late twelfth and early thirteenth-century Italy.

Manuel Castiñeiras

Catalan Panel Painting around 1200 and the Art of the Eastern Mediterranean

From the end of 12th Century Catalan Panel Painting entered a new phase, characterised by a marked Byzantine imprint. Although many scholars have argued this Byzantine influence was indirect, and suggested the intermediaries were Anglo-Norman miniatures, especially for the frontal of Santa Maria d'Avià, some scholars preferred the notion of direct contacts between the Eastern Mediterranean and the West at the time of the fall of Jerusalem in 1187 and the capture of Constantinople by the Crusaders in 1204. The focus of this paper is to demonstrate the similarity between Catalan Panel Painting (notably the altar frontals from Avià, Baltarga and Orellà) and Cypriot and Komnenian art -  in the use of techniques, colours and iconographic models. The activity of Master Alexander, a possible ‘Greek‘ painter working in the vicinity of the monastery of Sant Martin de Canigó around 1200, will allow us to reformulate the question of Byzantine influence in the Western Mediterrenean.
Dulce Ocón

The paintings of the chapterhouse of Sigena (Huesca) and the art of the Crusader kingdoms

The paintings of the chapterhouse of Sigena (Huesca) are an outstanding example of the influence of late Comnenian Art upon the pictorial art of the West. Ever since Otto Pächt and Walter Oakeshot identified  the hand of two or three artists who had worked in the last phase of illustration of the Winchester Bible, it has been generally admitted that the authorship of the murals of this magnificent room, should be attributed to artists trained in the workshops of Winchester and Canterbury. However, as suggested by these scholars, neither the work of English painters nor their likely knowledge of the mosaics of Norman Sicily clarify every aspect of the paintings of Sigena.

This paper traces certain technical and artistic features that suggest that the masters of Sigena had a first-hand knowledge of Byzantine monumental painting. A careful analysis of the iconographic sources of the magnificent portraits of the ancestors of Christ of Sigena and its relationship with the art of the Crusaders in Jerusalem, Acre and Cyprus point to the likelihood that this awareness may have been acquired from the artistic centres of Eastern Mediterranean. Political relations of the kingdom of Aragon, in the times when the paintings of Sigena where presumably done, may have favored both the artistic exchanges with these centres and the option for an atmosphere that evoked the prestige of  Byzantine imperial art in a monastery of royal foundation.

Jordi Camps

Catalonia, Provence and the Holy Land: Late 12th-Century Sculpture in Barcelona

There are some workshops (based in Girona, Barcelona, but also Tarragona and several castle churches) that show a close relationship with particular monuments in Provence. The type of sculpture encompassed by this is a type of sculpture that has links with Roman Antiquity and the Mediterranean. Moreover, the Catalan Romanesque examples are not that far removed from ceertain sculptural monuments in the Holy Land. The paper will analyze the contacts, reasons and historical background of this sculpture, during the last third of the 12th century.
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